Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 1 of 24

FILED 04-10-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

# STATE OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,
Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

Appeal No. 2022AP002222 CR Case No. 2020CF001565 (Eau Claire County)

ROGER A. MINCK,

Defendant-Appellant.

\_\_\_\_\_

# APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND APPENDIX

Appeal from the Judgment of Conviction and Sentence entered in Eau Claire County Circuit Court Honorable John F. Manydeeds, presiding

#### SUBMITTED BY:

# **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

1. Was the evidence presented to the jury sufficient to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Minck hid T.C.'s corpse?

Trial Court: Yes.

2. Did Minck commit a crime that was concealed by hiding T.C.'s corpse?

Trial Court: Yes.

## **STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT**

Defendant-Appellant, Roger Minck believes that because this case involves a determination of what facts are necessary for the application of Wis. Stats. § 940.11(2), Minck contends that oral argument may assist the court in answering this question.

#### STATEMENT REGARDING PUBLICATION

Because this case involves a determination of what facts satisfy the elements for Wis. Stats. § 940.11(2), Appellant, Roger Minck submits that the opinion would be instructive to all circuit courts and therefore has statewide implications that make publication advisable.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

A Criminal Complaint was filed on December 23, 2020 which alleged one count of Hiding a Corpse pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 940.11(2); one count of Delivery of Schedule I or II Narcotics pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 961.41(1)(a); one count of Maintaining a Drug Trafficking Place pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 961.42(1); and one count of Burglary of a Building or Dwelling pursuant to Wis. Stats. § 943.10(1m)(a) against Roger Minck ("Minck"). (R. 2).

An initial appearance was held on January 14, 2021. (R. 127). The court set cash bail at \$10,000.00. (*Id.* at 5).

A status hearing was held on February 10, 2021. (R. 135). At that time Minck requested a preliminary hearing. (*Id.* at 3). The court also denied Minck's request for bond modification. (*Id.* at 6).

On March 16, 20212 a preliminary hearing was held (R. 133). The court heard testimony from Police Officer Justin Greuel. (*Id.* at 5-15). The court bound the case over for trial. (*Id.*).

An arraignment was held on April 7, 2021. (R. 121). Minck acknowledged receiving the Information, waived its reading and entered a not guilty plea on all counts. (*Id.* at 4). The court also heard Minck's motion to modify bond and the court denied the motion. (*Id.* at 14).

A status conference was held on June 22, 2021. (R. 132). The court noted that Minck had filed a speedy trial demand on June 14, 2021. (*Id.* at 2). The court set a trial date. (*Id.* at 4). The court also denied Minck's request to modify bond. (*Id.* at 9).

On July 2, 2021 a status conference was held. (R. 131). The court ruled on the pretrial motions filed by the State. (*Id.* at 2-4). The court also denied Minck's request for a bail reduction. (*Id.* at 9).

On August 13, 2021 a status conference was held. (R. 130). At this hearing, the court confirmed that the health of Minck's trial counsel would not affect the trial date. (*Id.* at 3). Minck also requested the court to consider reducing his bail and the court denied the request. (*Id.* at 7).

A status hearing was held on September 8, 2021. (R. 122). The court was advised that Minck's trial counsel was in an auto accident and not able to try this case on the trial date. (*Id.* at 3-4). The court granted the continuance for good cause. (*Id.* at 10). The court also denied Minck's request to modify his bail. (*Id.* at 11).

The jury trial commenced on November 29, 2021. (R. 129). A reserve judge was assigned to the case, and this judge held a pretrial conference before the jury trial commenced. (*Id.* at 1-15). Voir dire of the jury was then started and as jury selected. (*Id.* at 16-50). The court then

instructed the jury. (*Id.* at 50-62). Opening statements were made by both the State and Minck. (*Id.* at 62-75). The jury then heard testimony from the State witnesses, Jennifer Click, Thomas Loader, Kenneth Minck, Daniel Schofield, Heidi Schultz, Detective Mike Osmond and Detective Ryan Greener. (*Id.* at 76-134).

The jury trial continued on November 30, 2021. (R. 128). The jury then heard testimony from Sargent Arthur Jaquish, Officer Tyler Larsen, Marcie Marcelle Rosas, medical examiner, Police Officer Justin Greuel, Stephanie Diepenbrock, substances analyst, Samantha Delfosse, DNA analyst, Sargent Brandon Ring, Lieutenant Mark Pieper, Sargent Bridget Coit, Dr. Robert Corliss, forensic pathologist. (*Id.* at 11- 101). The court then adjourned the trial for the evening. (*Id.* at 112).

On December 1, 2021, the third day of the jury trial was held. (R. 125). The jury heard testimony from Sergeant Brian Trowbidge. (*Id.* at 5-58). The State then rested. (*Id.* at 58). The court then held a colloquy with Minck in regards to his testimony. (*Id.* at 58-61). The court found that Minck had knowingly and intelligently made the decision to testify. (*Id.* at 61). The jury then heard testimony from Minck. (*Id.* at 62-83). The court reviewed jury instructions with the parties and then adjourned for the day. (*Id.* at 84-95).

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 10 of 24

On December 2, 2021, the jury trial continued. (R. 126). The court first instructed the jury. (*Id.* at 11-23). The jury then heard closing arguments from the State and Minck and a rebuttal argument by the State. (*Id.* at 23-44). The court then gave the jury its final instructions and swore in the bailiffs. (*Id.* at 45-47). The jury was excused for deliberations. (*Id.* at 47). The court was then informed that the jury had reached a verdict. (*Id.* at 53). The jury returned its verdict finding Minck guilty in Count One on the charge of hiding a corpse; guilty in Count Two on the charge of delivery of Schedule I or II narcotics; and guilty in Count Three guilty of maintaining a drug trafficking place. (*Id.* at 54). The court polled the jury. (*Id.* at 55). The court revoked bond and ordered a presentence investigation report. (*Id.* at 57).

Minck was sentenced on March 14, 2022. (R. 56). The court first heard argument from the State and listened to victim statements. (*Id.* at 4-29). The court then heard argument from defense counsel and listened as defense counsel read a letter written by Minck in lieu of making a statement to the court. (*Id.* at 29-34). The court then sentenced Minck on Count 1 to 6 years of initial confinement, 5 years of extended supervision; on Count 2, 6 years of initial confinement, 5 years of extended supervision served consecutively to Count 1; and on Count 3, imposed and stayed one and a

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 11 of 24

half years of initial confinement followed by 2 years of extended supervision and placed on probation for 3 years consecutive to listened Counts 1 and 2, for a total sentence of 12 years on initial confinement and 10 years on extended supervision with 3 years on probation. (*Id.* at 42-43).

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 12 of 24

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

T.C. went missing on November 5, 2018. (R. 2). T.L., a close friend of T.C., testified that T.C. had a heroin addiction. (R. 129; p. 85). T.L. further testified that on November 5, 2018 that T.C. told him that he was driving to Eau Claire to see Minck and get heroin. (*Id.* at 89). T.L. also testified that T.C. called him from Eau Claire and told him "something was taking longer" and that it would be even longer before he got back home. (*Id.* at 93). Minck, a friend of T.C.'s, testified that he was expecting T.C. to arrive at his residence and T.C. was to drive Minck to purchase a car. (R. 125; pp. 64-65). On November 13, 2018, Minck told the police that T.C. never arrived at his residence to drive him to purchase the car. (R. 92; lines 38-65). Minck also at that time, admitted to the police that he dabbled in illegally selling prescription drugs, namely Oxycodone. (*Id.* at 328-359, 686-695). T.C.'s vehicle was located at Lake Altoona Dam, some 4.5 miles from Minck's residence, but T.C. or his corpse was not located. (R. 125; pp. 115-116). The police collected DNA samples from T.C.'s car, but since Minck had told the police he had driven this car, the police determined that finding Minck's DNA in the car would not help the investigation. (R.29; p. 116). On November 2, 2018, K.M., Minck's brother was incarcerated. (R. 129; p. 98). K.M. lived next door to Minck.

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 13 of 24

(R. 125; p. 22). On or about November 18, 2018, Daniel Schofield, a friend of T.C.'s, arranged to purchase Oxycodone from Minck. (R. 129; p. 102). On December 6, 2018, the police obtained a search warrant for K.M.'s residence and entered the residence through an open window. (R.29; p. 131). The police found the deceased T.C. inside K.M.'s residence. (R. 128; p. 22). The cause of death was by an overdose of heroin and Fentanyl. (*Id.* at 100).

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 14 of 24

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE STATE FAILED TO PROVIDE SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT THAT MINCK HID THE CORPSE OF T.C. TO CONCEAL A CRIME PURSUANT TO WIS. STAT. § 940.11(2).

Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2) states that "Whoever hides or buries a corpse, with intent to conceal a crime . . . is guilty of a Class F felony." The State charged Minck with hiding the corpse of T.C. to conceal his illegal drug dealing of Oxycodone. (R. 2.; Criminal Complaint.) To convict Minck of this offense, the State is required to prove two elements:

- 1. The defendant hid a corpse.
- 2. The defendant hid a corpse with intent to conceal a crime. This requires that the defendant acted with the purpose to conceal a crime.

Wis. JI-1194.

The trial court held that "the State was able to prove by evidence beyond a reasonable doubt at a jury trial". (R. 115; p. 345).

Minck contends that the State failed to provide sufficient evidence for the jury to find him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt on both elements of the offense. Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 15 of 24

# A. The State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Minck hid the corpse of T.C.

On an appeal from a conviction in a criminal case, the test of the sufficiency of the evidence is whether or not the evidence adduced, believed and rationally considered by the finder of fact was sufficient to prove the defendant's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. *Oseman v. State*, 32 Wis.2d 523, 531, 145 N.W.2d 766 (1966). In a criminal case, the same test applies whether the trial is to a court or to the jury. *Alston v. State*, 30 Wis.2d 888 100, 140 N.W.2d 286 (1966). The test does not require the appellate court to become equally convinced of the guilt of the defendant beyond a reasonable doubt, but only that the appellate court be satisfied that the finder of fact on the credible evidence submitted could find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Stevens*, 26 Wis.2d 451, 464, 132 N.W.2d 502 (1965).

T.C. went missing on November 5, 2018. (R. 2). Minck expected T.C. to arrive at his residence and take him to purchase an automobile. (R. 125; p. 64). Minck testified that he never saw T.C. that day. (*Id.* at 65). T.C.'s vehicle was found at Altoona Lake Dam, some 4.5 miles from Minck's residence. (*Id.* at 81). Minck told the police that T.C. had recently loaned his vehicle to him. (*Id.* at 80-81). The police decided to not take

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 16 of 24

DNA swabs of T.C.'s vehicle because they knew Minck's DNA would be in the vehicle. (*Id.* at 11-12). On December 6, 2018, during the execution of a search warrant for K.M.'s residence, the police found the body of T.C. (R.128; p. 14). K.M., testified that he threw the keys to his residence on the coffee table in front of C.A. and Minck was not present. (R. 129; p. 98). A search warrant executed for Minck's residence did not find any keys to K.M.'s residence. (R. 125; pp, 37-38). The State argued to the jury that Minck had sole access to K.M.'s house keys while his brother was incarcerated. (R. 126; pp. 31-32). However, the State presented no evidence to the jury that Minck actually possessed his brother's keys. In addition, the keys were not needed to gain access to K.M.'s residence. Detective Greener testified that when searching K.M.'s residence, because no keys were found, a locksmith was called and was unable to open the door. (R. 129; p. 131). The police gained access through a window. (*Id.* at 133-134). In actuality, the State's contention that Minck somehow had exclusive access to K.M.'s residence was misplaced. Anyone had access to K.M.'s residence at any time.

T.C.'s body was found wrapped in a tarp and plastic. (R. 128; pp. 14-15). DNA testing of the tarp and plastic found Minck's DNA on both items. (*Id.* at 60-61). The State argued to the jury that the DNA evidence

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 17 of 24

showed that Minck moved T.C.'s body. (R. 126; p. 32). The State's DNA expert testified that DNA does not determine when the DNA was placed on these items and that the DNA could have been on these items for a long time. (R. 128; p. 62). Minck provided uncontroverted testimony that the tarp was his and he used it for removing leaves, and the plastic was also his and he used it to wrap around the air conditioner. (R. 125; p. 67).

Minck testified that before K.M. went to jail K.M.'s flat screen TV was broken. (R. 125; 72). When asked if he loaned K.M. his daughter's TV, his answer was "We might have loaned him her TV at one point in time and also one of my TVs from my bedroom. (*Id.* at 73). In executing the search warrant on K.M.'s residence, the police found a broken flat screen TV. (R. 128; p. 22). In executing the search warrant on Minck's residence, the police noted that the were two flat screen TVs. (R. 125; p. 36). The State argued to the jury "the only way those flat screens could have gotten back into [Minck's] residence is if [C.A.] and [Minck] went back into residence to get those TVs, which means they would had had access to [K.M.'s] keys." (R.126; p. 30). The State offered no testimony from anyone identifying the broken TV screen or the two TVs in Minck's residence as being the TVs Minck was referencing in his testimony. There was no testimony that either of those two TVs were in K.M.'s residence

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 18 of 24

after November 5, 2018 and the only time reference is that Minck loaned a TV to K.M. sometime prior to his brother going to jail. The State's argument was asking the jury to speculate about facts not in evidence.

The State argued that Minck had keys to his brother's residence and therefore, Minck had exclusive access to the K.M.'s home. As noted above, not only did Minck testify that he did not possess the keys to K.M.'s home, but the police actions showed that anyone could have gained access to K.M.'s home. (R. 129; pp. 133-134). The State clearly did not prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Minck had sole access to his brother's residence and therefore he was the only one who could have placed T.C.'s body in K.M.'s home.

The State further argued to the jury that the DNA evidence found on the tarp and plastic wrapped around T.C.'s body proved that Minck used these items to move T.C.'s body. (R. 128; pp. 60-61). As shown above, the State's DNA witness testified that Minck's DNA could have been on the tarp and plastic for a long time. (*Id.* at 62). The State offered no evidence to counter Minck's testimony that he used the tarp to move leaves and the plastic to cover an air conditioner. (R. 125; p. 67). As such, the State failed to present evidence to the jury to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the tarp and plastic were used by Minck to move T.C.'s body.

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 19 of 24

The police found a broken flat screen TV in K.M.'s residence during the execution of the search warrant. (R. 128; p. 22). Minck testified that at some time he may have loaned his brother one of his flat screen TVs. (*Id.* at 73). During the search of Minck's residence, the police noticed two flat screen TVs. (R. 125; p. 36). As a result, the State argued that Minck must have been in his brother's home to take back his TV. (R.126; p. 30). However, there was no evidence presented to the jury showing that Minck's TV was in K.M.'s residence after K.M. went to jail. The State's argument was uncorroborated and therefore failed to establish that Minck had been in his brother's home by proof beyond a reasonable doubt.

For all of these reasons, Minck contends that the State failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Minck hid the corpse of T.C.

B. The State also failed to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Minck was intending on concealing a crime by hiding the corpse of T.C.

The State argued to the jury that Minck hid T.C.'s body "to conceal a crime, specifically, his illegal Oxycodone sales". (R. 129; p.72). T.C.'s cause of death was an overdose of Heroin and Fentanyl. (R. 128; pp. 97-98). Recovered from T.C.'s body was Heroin and Fentanyl. (R. 128; p. 42). Whoever delivered the heroin and Fentanyl to T.C. would be guilty of a Len Bias-type homicide pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 940.02(2)(a). This is the

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 20 of 24

crime that would have been concealed by hiding T.C.'s corpse. The application of Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2) in this manner is consistent with Wisconsin case law.

In State v. Badker, 2001 WI App 27, 240 Wis. 2d 460, 623 N.W. 142, the defendant was convicted of Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2). *Id.* at ¶ 1. The defendant strangled the victim to death in a parked truck outside a locked gate leading into the Necedah Wildlife Refuge and then, he rolled the body onto a blanket, then pulled the blanket over to a ditch inside the Necedah Wildlife Refuge and dumped the corpse into the water. Photographs of the location entered into evidence at trial reveal that it is a wooded, secluded spot. A locked gate prevents cars from driving into it. Except for trappers, members of the public are not allowed past the gate until twenty-four hours before the opening of gun deer hunting season. The secluded nature of the spot where the corpse was discovered by a fur trapper, as well as defendant's actions in dragging it to the ditch and rolling it down into the water, provided sufficient evidence from which the jury could have concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that he hid the corpse. *Id.* at ¶¶ 3 and 26. Clearly, the defendant hid the corpse to conceal his crime of strangulating the victim to death.

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 21 of 24

In *State v. Kamlager*, 2006AP1103 (Wis. App. 2007), an unpublished opinion without legal precedence, the defendant was convicted of Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2). *Id.* at ¶ 1. On December 23, 2001, the victim's body was found covered with branches and brush in a secluded wooded area close to both the victim and defendant's homes in Walworth, Wisconsin. The victim died as a result of gunshot wounds to the abdomen and blunt-force trauma to the head. *Id.* at ¶ 8, The victim had gone missing on November 24, 2001. *Id.* at ¶ 14. The defendant owned a Ruger .22 gun. *Id.* at ¶ 35. The defendant owed the victim approximately \$35,000 to \$36,000. *Id.* at ¶ 41. Three unfired .22-caliber bullets were found in the defendant's jacket pocket and a .22 caliber bullet was taken from the victim's body. *Id.* at ¶ 47. In this case the defendant clearly hid the corpse to conceal his crime of shooting and killing the victim.

In *State v. Nichols*, 2008AP940-CR (Wis. App. 2009), an unpublished opinion without legal precedence, the defendant was found guilty of second-degree intentional homicide and guilty of hiding a corpse pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2). *Id.* at ¶ 1. The police found the victim's body covered with a log and leaves. An autopsy revealed that the victim had been shot with a shotgun, with pellets striking him in the face, neck, upper chest, right arm and shoulder, and the right side of his upper back. He

Case 2022AP002222 Brief of Appellant Filed 04-10-2023 Page 22 of 24

also sustained a stab wound to the face and five stab wounds to the front of his neck, severing both jugular veins. *Id.* at¶ 12. Police recovered the single shot, twelve-gauge shotgun that the defendant used to shoot the victim, which still contained the fired shell casing. They also recovered the knife the defendant used. *Id.* at ¶ 13. Here, the defendant hid the body to conceal the crime of shooting and stabbing the victim.

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