Filed 05-08-2023

Page 1 of 23

FILED 05-08-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2022AP2222 - CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ROGER A. MINCK,

Defendant-Appellant.

AN APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN EAU CLAIRE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE HOWARD CAMERON AND JOHN F. MANYDEEDS, PRESIDING.

BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

WINN S. COLLINS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1037828

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

There was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Minck guilty of hiding a corpse.

A defendant "bears a heavy burden" when challenging the sufficiency of the evidence to support a conviction. *State v. Klingelhoets*, 2012 WI App 55, ¶ 10, 341 Wis. 2d 432, 814 N.W.2d 885. The verdict may be reversed only when "the evidence 'is so lacking in probative value and force that no trier of fact, acting reasonably, could have found guilt beyond a reasonable doubt." *Smith*, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 24 (quoting *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 507).

The appellate court "consider[s] the evidence in the light most favorable to the State." *Smith*, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 24. The verdict must be upheld "if there is any reasonable hypothesis that supports it." *Id*. When more than one inference can reasonably be drawn from the evidence, the inference that supports the verdict controls. *Id*. ¶ 33; accord Cavazos v. Smith, 565 U.S. 1, 7 (2011) (per curiam). "[A]n appellate court must consider the totality of the evidence when conducting a sufficiency of the evidence inquiry." Smith, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 36.

The trier of fact possesses exclusive responsibility for determining witness credibility and weighing the evidence. *Poellinger*, 153 Wis. 2d at 504. "It is the function of the trier of fact, and not of an appellate court, to fairly resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts." *Id.* at 506. Only when the "relied upon evidence" is "inherently or patently incredible—that kind of evidence which conflicts with the laws of nature or with fully-established or conceded facts"—will this Court substitute its judgment for the trier of fact's. *State v. Below*, 2011 WI App 64, ¶ 3, 333 Wis. 2d 690, 799 N.W.2d 95.

A person commits the crime of hiding a corpse if he: (1) hides a corpse; (2) with the intent to conceal a crime. Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2).⁶ Minck argues that there was insufficient evidence to support either element. He is wrong. Sufficient evidence established that Minck hid Thane's corpse and that he did it in order to conceal his oxycodone trafficking.

A. The jury had sufficient evidence to find that Minck hid Thane's corpse in his brother's next-door residence.

Minck contends that the jury had insufficient evidence to find that he hid Thane's corpse. (Minck's Br. 15–19.)

The statute does not define "hides." In *State v. Badker*, this Court adopted the ordinary and accepted meaning of hide: "to put or keep out of sight." 2001 WI App 27, ¶ 25, 240 Wis. 2d 460, 623 N.W.2d 142 (citation omitted). Minck does not contest that Thane's corpse was hidden—nor could he. (Minck's Br. 18.) Thane's corpse was missing for a month and found in an unoccupied and locked residence covered by a tarp.

Minck argues only that the State failed to prove that he was the person who hid Thane's corpse. (Minck's Br. 16–19.) This argument fails. The jury had a surfeit of evidence to find that Minck hid Thane's corpse.

⁶ A person can hide a corpse for other purposes and still be found guilty of hiding a corpse, *see* Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2), but hiding a corpse with the intent to conceal a crime is the theory that applies in this case.

The evidence unequivocally placed Thane at Minck's home when he disappeared around 5:30 p.m. on November 5, 2018. Thane told his adoptive son, Tyrone, that he was driving to Minck's to acquire heroin. (R. 129:84, 89.) Thane's phone utilized cell towers that tracked his movement from his house in Gilmanton to Minck's house in Eau Claire. (R. 84:2–6; 129:112–14.) Thane had his last phone call at 5:14 p.m. with Tyrone. (R. 84:7; 129:91.) The traffic camera at the intersection one-and-a-half blocks from Minck's home showed Thane driving his car with its distinctive amber light toward Minck's home at 5:25 p.m. (R. 82:1; 125:12–13, 16–18.) By 5:31 p.m., Thane had stopped accepting calls. (R. 84:7–8; 129:92.)

After 5:31 p.m., Thane went missing for a month. Many people called Thane repeatedly in the 36 hours after his disappearance but failed to reach him. (R. 84:7–8.) Minck was not one of these callers, even though he told police that he was and even though he spoke on the phone with Thane at 4:57, 4:58 and 4:59 p.m. (R. 84:7–8; 92:3.)

Police found Thane in the unoccupied residence of Minck's brother, Kenneth—the other half of the duplex in which Minck lived. (R. 125:22; 128:13–14.) Thane had died from mixed drug toxicity with a very high concentration of illicitly obtained fentanyl in his system (R. 128:96–98). He had a baggie of heroin in his sock. (R. 128:32, 41–42.)

Thane's corpse had been covered in a tarp and partially wrapped in plastic sheeting. (R. 128:14–16, 23.) At trial, Minck admitted that he owned both items. (R. 125:67.) DNA testing revealed Minck to be the only major contributor of DNA on the edges of both items, where a person would have grabbed them. (R. 128:60–61.) The two other most likely candidates for handling the items—Minck's girlfriend and Thane himself—were excluded as major contributors. (R. 128:59–60, 61.)

Minck had access—exclusive access, as far as the trial evidence indicated—to his brother's residence for the month in which Thane was missing. Kenneth was jailed prior to Thane's disappearance and not released until after police found his corpse. (R. 125:33-34.) Kenneth testified that he had left his house keys on Minck's coffee table in front of Minck's girlfriend. (R. 129:97–98.) Minck denied possessing these keys (R. 93:34), but the flat-screen televisions belied his claim that he lacked access. Minck stated at trial that he had given Kenneth one of his two flat-screen televisions after Kenneth broke his. (R. 125:72–73) However, when police found Thane's corpse, Kenneth's home had only a broken flatscreen television. (R. 128:22.) Minck's house had two working flat-screen televisions. (R. 125:36–37.) Minck obviously must have retrieved his second flat-screen television from Kenneth's residence while Kenneth was in jail.

Further, Minck betrayed his consciousness of guilt at the end of his second interview with detectives. Although unbothered by a search of his home, he attempted to persuade the detectives not to search his brother's residence. (R. 93:34.) Had he truly lacked access to Kenneth's residence, he would have had no reason to fear a search of it.

In sum, the evidence conclusively placed Thane at Minck's house when he disappeared. One month later, police found Thane's corpse next door in Kenneth's residence. Kenneth left Minck with his house keys before going to jail, and Minck clearly used them to retrieve his second flat-screen television. Minck admitted owning the tarp and plastic sheet used to cover Thane's corpse, and he was the only major contributor of DNA on both items. The jury could easily find beyond a reasonable doubt from this evidence that Minck hid Thane's corpse.

Minck faults the evidence for failing to prove that he had exclusive access to Kenneth's residence. (Minck's Br. 16, 18.) He cites the unlocked window found in Kenneth's residence to assert that anyone could have moved Thane's corpse into Kenneth's home. (Minck's Br. 16, 18.)

However, the State did not need to show Minck's exclusive access (although it made a strong showing that he did). It needed to prove only that Minck had access so that he could have moved Thane's corpse. The State met that burden. The jury could reasonably accept Kenneth's testimony that he left his house keys with Minck and infer that Minck used the keys to fetch his second flat-screen television from Kenneth's residence. Minck's negative reaction to being told that the police planned to search Kenneth's home buttressed that inference. The jury was free to infer from this evidence that Minck had access to Kenneth's residence and to reject Minck's speculative theory of innocence as unreasonable. See Poellinger, 153 Wis. 2d at 506. Any doubt of Minck's involvement based on the theoretical possibility of an unknown person sneaking Thane's corpse in through a window, using Minck's tarp and plastic sheet to cover the corpse, and somehow depositing Minck's DNA on those items, would not have been reasonable.

Minck contends that the State improperly invited the jury to speculate outside the record by arguing that Minck retrieved his second flat-screen television from Kenneth's home. (Minck's Br. 17–18, 19.) He is incorrect. Police officers who executed the two searches established that Kenneth's residence had one broken flat-screen television and that Minck's residence had two working flat-screen televisions. (R. 125:36–37; 128:22.) Minck testified that he gave Kenneth one of his two flat-screen televisions after Kenneth broke his. (R. 125:72–73.) This direct evidence established the basis for this particular inference advanced by the State.

Minck also asserts that the jury was obligated to discount the presence of his DNA on the tarp and plastic sheet because he testified that he owned and used them. (Minck's Br. 18.) He believes that the jury should have concluded that his DNA must have come from innocent activities. (Minck's Br. 18.)

The jury was not obligated to accept Minck's spin on the DNA evidence. It was free to determine that the DNA test results, when viewed in the totality of the evidence, showed that Minck used the tarp and plastic sheet to hide Thane's corpse. *See Smith*, 342 Wis. 2d 710, ¶ 31.

Accordingly, sufficient evidence supported the jury's finding that Minck hid Thane's corpse, as required to find him guilty of hiding a corpse.

B. The jury had sufficient evidence to find that Minck hid Thane's corpse in order to conceal his drug trafficking, which Minck does not dispute is a crime.

Minck also argues that the jury lacked sufficient evidence to find that he hid Thane's corpse to conceal a crime. (Minck's Br. 19–23.)

The trial court properly instructed the jury on the elements necessary to find Minck guilty of hiding a corpse. (R. 126:12–13); *see* Wis. JI-Criminal 1194 (2013). The court told the jury that intent was to be found from Minck's "acts, words, or statements along with all the facts and circumstances in this case bearing upon intent." (R. 126:13.) The facts and circumstances revealed that Minck hid Thane's corpse to conceal the drug transactions he conducted out of his house.

The very fact that Minck hid Thane's corpse for a month while adamantly denying any knowledge of his whereabouts presents powerful evidence of an intent to hide criminal conduct. Minck locked Thane's corpse in his brother's home and covered it with a tarp. (R. 125:37–38; 128:14–15; 129:131– 32.) He removed the amber light from Thane's car, transported the car to the Lake Altoona Dam—only a threeto-four-minute drive from his house—and abandoned it there. (R. 125:9–11.) He then lied to police for a month—even when confronted with evidence that undermined his story. (R. 92:2–4; 93:15–16, 23.) Minck did not at trial, and does not here, offer any rational explanation for his duplicitous conduct. An innocent explanation is not apparent.

Minck's drug dealing, on the other hand, is an undisputed fact that readily explains his concealment of Thane's corpse. (See Minck's Br. 23.) At trial, Minck confirmed that he sold oxycodone pills to Schofield around November 18 and that he gave Thane ten pills two weeks prior to his death. (R. 125:79–80.) He had already admitted to selling oxycodone from his house prior to trial in his second interview with detectives, calling it his "hustle." (R. 93:24, 27–28.) Consistent with these admissions, police found various empty pill bottles in Minck's house, including some that lacked any labels. (R. 125:36.) They also found a pipe used to smoke methamphetamine. (125:35.) Notably, Thane died with methamphetamine, oxycodone. and amphetamine (a metabolite of methamphetamine) in his system along with fentanyl. (R. 128:98–99.) Minck does not contest that selling these drugs was a crime.

The jury could reasonably find that Minck feared that Thane's drug-induced death at his house would invite police scrutiny that would uncover his illegal drug enterprise and that he accordingly hid Thane's corpse so that he could continue selling oxycodone out of his house after Thane's death. This finding is not "patently incredible" as required to be disturbed on appeal. *Below*, 333 Wis. 2d 690, ¶ 3; *see State* v. Bratchett, No. 2018AP2305-CR, 2020 WL 2049119, ¶ 21 (Ct. App. Apr. 22, 2020) (unpublished) (upholding mutilation of a corpse conviction because the jury "could reasonably infer that [the defendant] burned [the victim's] body with the intent to conceal the crime of delivery of a controlled substance" after the victim died by an oxycodone overdose) (R-App. 3–6).⁷

Minck contends that the only crime that could be concealed by moving Thane's corpse would be first-degree reckless homicide from providing Thane with the illicit fentanyl that caused his death. (Minck's Br. 19–20.) See Wis. Stat. § 940.02(2)(a). This argument depends on his unsupported assumption that a conviction for hiding a corpse can arise only if the defendant is responsible for the death of that person. (Minck's Br. 20–22.)⁸ No such requirement exists.

The statute requires only that a defendant hide a corpse "to conceal *a* crime." Wis. Stat. § 940.11(2) (emphasis added). It does not specify that the defendant be concealing a crime related to the death of the person being moved. Indeed, the crime to be concealed need not even have been committed by the person moving the corpse. See State v. Pinno, 2014 WI 74, ¶¶ 25–26, 356 Wis. 2d 106, 850 N.W.2d 207 (recounting that defendant's conviction arose from hiding the corpse of her son's murder victim). The jury could find Minck guilty of hiding a corpse based on his intent to conceal his drug trafficking even if the drug trafficking did not cause Thane's death.

Moreover, the jury could have found that Minck did, in fact, hide Thane's corpse to conceal his involvement in his

⁷ Unpublished opinions issued on or after July 1, 2009, that are authored by a member of a three-judge panel may be cited for their persuasive value. Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b).

⁸ Minck's argument relies in part on unpublished opinions that may not be cited on appeal. (Minck's Br. 21–22.) Both *State v. Kamlager*, No. 2006AP1103-CR, 2007 WL 2711671 (Ct. App. Sep. 19, 2007) and *State v. Nichols*, No. 2008AP940-CR, 2009 WL 818983 (Ct. App. Mar. 31, 2009) predate July 1, 2009, making them uncitable even for their persuasive value. *See* Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.23(3)(b).

death. Admittedly, the jury was not instructed on first-degree reckless homicide, and the State did not argue that Minck aimed to conceal that crime. Nevertheless, the record provided the jury a basis to find that Minck hid Thane's corpse because he feared being held responsible for Thane's death.

Thane had a heroin addiction and told Tyrone that he was going to see Minck to acquire heroin. (R. 129:85, 89.) The traffic camera by Minck's house established that Thane made it to Minck's house just before he went missing. (R. 125:12-13, 16–18.) Police found Thane in Minck's brother's house, the other half of the duplex in which Minck lived. (R. 125:22; 128:13–16.) Thane died from mixed drug toxicity (R. 128:96.) He had a very high level of fentanyl in his blood that could have independently caused his death. (R. 128:97.) The presence of acetyl fentanyl signaled that the fentanyl came from an illicit source. (R. 128:98.) He possessed a baggie of a tan substance consisting of heroin, fentanyl, and acetyl fentanyl when he died. (R. 128:32, 42.) He also died with oxycodone, the drug that Minck admitted selling, and methamphetamine, the drug residue found on Minck's pipe, in his blood. (R. 128:98.)

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